## UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-14-2013

# DeGroot v. Standley Trenching, Inc. Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 39406

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the improper and defective installation of manure handling equipment by Defendants Standley Trenching, Inc., d/b/a Standley & Co. (hereinafter "Standley") and J. Houle & Fils, Inc. (hereinafter "Houle") at the 2,000 head dairy operated by Plaintiffs Charles DeGroot and DeGroot Farms, LLC, (hereinafter collectively "DeGroot").

### **B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

In connection with the improper design and construction of the manure system, DeGroot filed its Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial on September 12, 2001 and its First Amended *Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial* on December 21, 2001.<sup>1</sup> Standley filed its *Verified Answer* and Counterclaim on February 22, 2002.<sup>2</sup>

DeGroot filed its Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial against Beltman Construction, Inc. d/b/a Beltman Welding and Construction ("Beltman") in the Third Judicial District of Idaho in and for the County of Canyon, Case No. CV05-2277.<sup>3</sup> Beltman filed its *Third Party* Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial against Standley on March 22, 2005. The Court entered an order consolidating the Beltman litigation with the case against Standley on April 19, 2005. Thereafter, on May 11, 2005, Beltman filed its First Amended Third Party Complaint and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R. Vol. I, pp. 23-46. <sup>2</sup> *Id.*, pp. 47-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> DeGroot filed its First Amended Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial on March 21, 2005.

Demand for Jury Trial against Standley.<sup>4</sup> The Beltman action was consolidated with the Standley action.5

DeGroot and Beltman eventually settled. As part of the settlement, DeGroot took an assignment of Beltman's claims against Standley. Thereafter, on September 11, 2006, DeGroot moved for an order pursuant to Rule 25(c) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure substituting it as the Third Party Plaintiff. The trial court granted the motion for substitution and entered an order to that effect on October 25, 2006.

On March 22, 2005, the trial court granted Standley's Motion for Summary Judgment on both the claims asserted by DeGroot, and on Standley's counterclaim.<sup>6</sup> The trial court affirmed that decision on March 28, 2005.<sup>7</sup> DeGroot sought reconsideration of the trial court's ruling on April 27, 2007.<sup>8</sup>

Standley subsequently moved for summary judgment on the claims asserted by DeGroot as an assignee of Beltman.<sup>9</sup> The trial court denied that motion on April 30, 2007.<sup>10</sup> Standley thereafter sought partial summary judgment of the claims assigned to DeGroot.<sup>11</sup> On November 8, 2011, the trial court granted Standley summary judgment as to all claims asserted in Beltman's Third Party Complaint.<sup>12</sup> Standley moved for its attorney fees and costs and the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Supp. R., pp. 43-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id.*, pp. 67-71. <sup>6</sup> R. Vol. II, pp. 374-76.

Id., pp. 377-379.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> R. Vol. III, pp. 556-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R. Vol. II, pp. 389-450. <sup>10</sup> R. Vol. IV, pp. 612-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> R. Vol. V, pp. 768-783.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id.*, pp. 907-10.

awarded fees and costs on or about December 29, 2011.<sup>13</sup>

#### C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1998, DeGroot purchased a parcel of property in Melba, Idaho for the purpose of establishing a 2,000 plus cow dairy.<sup>14</sup> In February 1999, DeGroot spoke with Kurt Standley at a trade show in California about installing a manure handling system at his new dairy.<sup>15</sup> DeGroot was also aware of Standley and its services by virtue of advertisements Standley placed in dairy trade magazines.<sup>16</sup> Standley was displaying "Houle" equipment at the trade show as a dealer of Houle equipment.<sup>17</sup> Although Standley had only recently become a dealer for Houle, it had been concentrating on doing dairy construction work since 1994.<sup>18</sup>

In June 1999, Beltman was hired as the general contractor for the construction of DeGroot's 2,000 plus cow dairy outside of Melba, Idaho.<sup>19</sup> Thereafter, Beltman contracted with Standley to design and install manure handling equipment for DeGroot's dairy.<sup>20</sup> Although DeGroot was not a party to the contract between Beltman and Standley, it was the intended beneficiary of that contract.<sup>21</sup> Further, following Standley's installation of the manure handling equipment, DeGroot worked directly with Standley to try and correct numerous defects in the manure handling system.<sup>22</sup>

- <sup>16</sup> R. Vol. III, p. 472 <sup>17</sup> R. Vol. II, p. 213.
- <sup>18</sup> *Id.*, p. 255.
- <sup>19</sup> *Id.*, p. 209; p. 214.
- <sup>20</sup> *Id.*, pp. 209-10.
- <sup>21</sup> *Id.*, pp. 209-10; 212.
- <sup>22</sup> *Id.*, p. 216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R. Vol.VI, 1120-27.
<sup>14</sup> R. Vol. II, p. 208.
<sup>15</sup> *Id.*, p. 213.

From August through November 1999, Standley designed and selected the materials and equipment for, and subsequently installed, the manure handling equipment at the DeGroot dairy.<sup>23</sup> The contract between Standley and Beltman called for Standley to install a flood system, drain system and manure handling equipment.<sup>24</sup> In connection with the contract, Standley selected the number of slope screens, pumps and pump valves to be used, as well as the pipe sizing and type of pump to be used.<sup>25</sup> Standley helped design the flush system based on its own experience and with the help of engineers from Houle.<sup>26</sup>

In connection with the manure handling system, Beltman relied upon Standley's experience and expertise in identifying the specifications for and installing the manure handling system.<sup>27</sup> DeGroot, too, relied upon Standley's expertise and representations regarding the Houle equipment that would be installed at the dairy during the construction of the dairy.<sup>28</sup>

Although the manure handling system installed by Standley worked briefly after DeGroot began operation of the dairy, shortly thereafter it failed and DeGroot was "always repairing it."<sup>29</sup> Further, following Standley's design and installation of the manure handling system, DeGroot worked directly with Standley to try and correct numerous defects in the manure handling system.<sup>30</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Id., pp. 209-10; pp. 265-266. A true and correct copy of the bid contract is found at R. Vol. II, pp. 233-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R. Vol. III, p. 462; p. 464; pp. 467-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.*, pp. 461-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.*, p. 466.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> *Id.*, p. 475; p. 477; p. 478; p. 480.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.*, p. 457; 473; 482.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> R. Vol. II, p. 219.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.*, pp. 265-267; R. Vol. I, pp. 86-91.

The problems with the system installed by Standley were numerous, and were brought to Standley's attention.<sup>31</sup> First, the lagoon pump which supplied water for flushing the free stalls was inadequate and required many modifications and upgrades.<sup>32</sup> As originally designed, Standley installed a forty-horse power pump.<sup>33</sup> The initial forty horsepower pump was replaced with a fifty horsepower and again with a seventy-five horsepower pump.<sup>34</sup> These attempts to increase the volume of water from the lagoon pump were not effective, and instead caused serious electrical problems.<sup>35</sup> Specifically, Idaho Power had to replace the transformer because the pump(s) were blowing bayonet fuses due to failure of the breaker box installed at the south end of the lagoon.<sup>36</sup> DeGroot incurred over \$5,000 in expenses for electrical repairs to the pump and breaker box at the lagoon.<sup>37</sup> It also is significant that despite Standley's various attempts to increase water volume for flushing, through increased horsepower, the free stalls still were not washed properly, instead requiring frequent manual scrapings that otherwise would not be necessary.38

Second, DeGroot expended sizeable sums in renovating the manure screening setup. Standley originally installed two roller presses and two slope screens to handle the dairy waste.<sup>39</sup> The roller presses moved the manure onto a conveyor which, in turn, moved the manure to a

<sup>34</sup> Id. <sup>35</sup> Id.

- <sup>36</sup> *Id.*, pp. 266-67. <sup>37</sup> *Id.* pp. 290-96.
- <sup>38</sup> *Id.*, p. 242; p. 245.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.*, p. 239; p. 243.
<sup>32</sup> *Id.*, p. 241; p. 243.
<sup>33</sup> *Id.*, p. 210; p. 262; p. 266; p. 243.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Id.*, p. 212; 217; 219.

stacker.<sup>40</sup> The roller presses, conveyor and stacker, however, never functioned as designed, warranted or intended.<sup>41</sup> Both the conveyor and stacker belts continually broke, resulting in DeGroot paying unanticipated costs for replacements.<sup>42</sup> In fact, within months of installation, the roller presses, conveyor and stacker were removed and the slope screens were placed atop a concrete wall in an attempt to remedy the inadequate design, forcing DeGroot to incur additional expense.<sup>43</sup>

Third, the agitator pumps installed by Standley were not sufficient to keep up with the flow of 'green water' from the free stalls.<sup>44</sup> Pursuant to Standley's design, two agitator pumps were installed in the holding pond to pump the manure water through the slope screens.<sup>45</sup> However, the two pumps were inadequate to handle the waste created by the dairy cows.<sup>46</sup> Standley's design (two pumps) would be sufficient for a dairy milking between five and six hundred cows – not the number of cows DeGroot milked.<sup>47</sup> Notably, Standley was aware that the DeGroot dairy was designed to milk over 4,000 cows.<sup>48</sup> As a result, manure accumulated in the holding pond, which then had to be scraped with a tractor.<sup>49</sup> The manure scraped from the holding pond could not be run through the slope screens, thus reducing the amount of compost

- <sup>40</sup> *Id.*, p. 212; 215.
- <sup>41</sup> Id.
- <sup>42</sup> *Id*, p. 212; p. 215; p. 267.
- <sup>43</sup> *Id.*, pp. 244-45.
- <sup>44</sup> *Id.* p. 264; pp. 270-71. <sup>45</sup> *Id.*, p. 215.
- <sup>46</sup> *Id.*, p. 213.
- <sup>47</sup> *Id.*, pp. 315-27.
- <sup>48</sup> *Id.*, pp. 265.
- <sup>49</sup> *Id.*, p. 242; p. 245

ultimately available for use in the free stalls, not to mention the difficulty associated with scraping out the holding pond.<sup>50</sup>

Thereafter, DeGroot continued to experience problems with various parts of the manure handling system, particularly its inability to adequately flush the lanes, the undersizing of the drain pipe, the collection pit which was too shallow, the inadequate roller presses and slope screens, and problems with the conveyor belts that transported the pressed manure to a stacker.<sup>51</sup>

Further, at no time did Houle or Standley ever provide DeGroot with Owner's Manuals for the equipment nor did they inform DeGroot of required maintenance on the equipment.<sup>52</sup> Rather, Standley's and Houle's representatives assured DeGroot the system would function as intended and would all but run itself with little if any involvement by DeGroot.<sup>53</sup>

Based upon the numerous design and installation flaws associated with the manure handling system installed at the dairy, DeGroot was forced to replace the manure handling equipment and install equipment capable of handling the needs of the dairy.<sup>54</sup> DeGroot revoked its acceptance of the manure handling equipment sold and installed by Standley.<sup>55</sup>

As a direct and proximate result of the numerous inadequacies with the manure handling system, DeGroot suffered damages in the form of lost milk production, increased labor costs, costs to correct the system, loss of feed in the free stalls, costs associated with repairing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id.*, p. 215; pp. 217-221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.*, p. 263.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> *Id.*, p. 245.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> *Id.*, p. 244. <sup>55</sup> *Id.*, pp. 344-48.

*<sup>1</sup>a.*, pp. 544-46

system as well as future costs to correct the system installed by Standley.<sup>56</sup> DeGroot hired Mr. Kenneth E. Hooper to calculate its economic loss caused by the improperly designed system.<sup>57</sup> Conservatively, Mr. Hooper estimated DeGroot's damages between \$603,005 and \$691,920 -

exclusive of attorney fees and costs.58

## II. ISSUES ON APPEAL<sup>59</sup>

- A. Whether the trial court erred in granting Standley summary judgment on DeGroot's Affirmative Claims as follows:
  - a. Whether the trial court erred in finding that DeGroot was not a Third Party Beneficiary of the contract between Beltman and Standley;
  - b. Whether the trial court erred in determining that DeGroot could not maintain warranty claims against Standley;
  - c. Whether the trial court erred in granting Standley summary judgment on DeGroot's claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing;
  - d. Whether the trial court erred in granting Standley summary judgment on DeGroot's claim brought pursuant to the Idaho Consumer Protection Act;
  - e. Whether the trial court erred in granting Standley summary judgment on DeGroot's claim of rescission against Standley.
- B. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Standley on its counterclaim and claim attorney fees.
- C. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing DeGroot's claims as an assignee of Beltman against Standley.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *Id.*, pp. 290-328.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> The first two issues identified in Plaintiffs' Notice of Appeal relate to claims against Houle & Fils, Inc. As Plaintiff has since settled its claims against this party, those issues are no longer at hand.

D. Whether the trial court erred in awarding Standley attorney fees and costs in defending the claims asserted by DeGroot.

## III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

DeGroot requests its attorney fees and costs associated with bringing this appeal pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 12-120, 12-121, Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 54(d) and 54(e), I.A.R. 41, and all other applicable state law.

## IV. ARGUMENT

## A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING STANDLEY SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON DEGROOT'S AFFIRMATIVE CLAIMS AGAINST STANDLEY

#### 1. Standard of Review

Summary judgment under I.R.C.P. 56(c) is proper only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. On appeal, this Court exercises free review in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.<sup>60</sup> When assessing a motion for summary judgment, all controverted facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the nonmoving party. Furthermore, the trial court must draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the party resisting the motion.<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc., 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct.App. 1986).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co., 119 Idaho 514, 517, 808 P.2d 851, 854 (1991); Sanders v. Kuna Joint School Dist., 125 Idaho 872, 874, 876 P.2d 154, 156 (Ct.App. 1994).

The party moving for summary judgment initially carries the burden to establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that he or she is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.<sup>62</sup> The burden may be met by establishing the absence of evidence on an element that the nonmoving party will be required to prove at trial.<sup>63</sup> Such an absence of evidence may be established either by an affirmative showing with the moving party's own evidence or by a review of all the nonmoving party's evidence and the contention that such proof of an element is lacking.<sup>64</sup> Once such an absence of evidence has been established, the burden then shifts to the party opposing the motion to show, via further depositions, discovery responses or affidavits, that there is indeed a genuine issue for trial or to offer a valid justification for the failure to do so under I.R.C.P. 56(f).<sup>65</sup>

The United States Supreme Court, in interpreting Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c),

which is identical in all relevant aspects to I.R.C.P. 56(c), stated:

In our view, the plain language of Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. In such a situation, there can be "no genuine issue as to any material fact," since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. The moving party is "entitled to judgment as a matter of law" because the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the burden of proof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Eliopulos v. Knox, 123 Idaho 400, 404, 848 P.2d 984, 988 (Ct.App. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Dunnick v. Elder, 126 Idaho 308, 311, 882 P.2d 475, 478 (Ct.App. 1994).

<sup>64</sup> Heath v. Honker's Mini-Mart, Inc., 134 Idaho 711, 712, 8 P.3d 1254, 1255 (Ct.App. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Sanders, 125 Idaho at 874, 876 P.2d at 156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552-53, 91 L.Ed.2d 265, 273-74 (1986) (citations omitted).

The language and reasoning of *Celotex* has been adopted in Idaho.<sup>67</sup>

## 2. DeGroot is a third party beneficiary of the contract between Standley and Beltman

# a. A genuine issue of material fact exists regarding whether DeGroot was a third party beneficiary to the contract between Beltman and Standley

Standley's primary challenge to DeGroot's claims is the assertion that DeGroot does not have contractual privity with Standley. As the intended beneficiary of the bid contract between Beltman and Standley, however, DeGroot is entitled to enforce the contract and obtain damages for Standley's breach. Idaho Code § 29-102 expressly provides that:

**Enforcement by a beneficiary.**—A contract, made expressly for the benefit of a third person, may be enforced by him at any time before the parties thereto rescind it.

The basic test for determining a party's status as a third party beneficiary is whether the agreement reflects an intent to directly benefit such third party.<sup>68</sup> Intent must be gleaned from the contract itself "unless that document is ambiguous, whereupon the circumstances surrounding its formation may be considered."<sup>69</sup> It is not necessary that the plaintiff be named and identified individually within the agreement.<sup>70</sup>

In this case, the contract executed by Standley to design and install a manure handling system for DeGroot's dairy was made for the direct and primary benefit of DeGroot. Prior to submitting its bid, Standley met with DeGroot, marketed Houle equipment, and spoke with him

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Dunnick, 126 Idaho at 312, 882 P.2d at 479.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Seubert Excavators, Inc. v. Eucon Corp., 125 Idaho 744, 874 P.2d 555 (Ct. App. 1993), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 125 Idaho 409, 871 P.2d 826 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Stewart v. Arrington Construction Co., 92 Idaho 526, 532, 446 P.2d 895 (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Just's Inc. v. Arrington Construction Co., 99 Idaho 462, 464, 583 P.2d 997 (1978).

specifically about submitting a bid for installation of the manure handling system. At the time the contract was entered into, Standley knew that DeGroot would be paying for the construction of the dairy, including installation of the manure handling system. Thus, installation of the manure handling system would inure to the benefit of DeGroot upon completion.

Further, DeGroot was the specifically named "customer" on Standley's invoices, thus indicating the intent to directly benefit DeGroot with the installation of the manure handling system.<sup>71</sup> It must also be recognized that without payment from DeGroot to Standley, there would be no need to install the system. At the very least, these facts raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether DeGroot was the intended beneficiary of the contract between Standley and Beltman.

It is also important to note the warranties on the system went to DeGroot. For example, the equipment came with a warranty registration form.<sup>72</sup> Kurt Standley testified that there was a warranty that he would have honored on the equipment at the DeGroot Dairy.<sup>73</sup> In fact, warranty work was performed on the dairy that DeGroot was not charged for, however, Standley did not keep specific records tracking that work.<sup>74</sup> This relationship evidences the fact that DeGroot was in fact a third party beneficiary of the contract.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, Standley relied heavily upon the Court of Appeals decision in Nelson v. Anderson Lumber Co.<sup>75</sup> In that case, the plaintiff contracted for a building

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> R. Vol. II, p. 123; p. 231
<sup>72</sup> R. Vol. IV, p. 569.
<sup>73</sup> R. Vol. II, p. 266.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> 140 Idaho 702, 99 P.3d 1092 (Ct. App. 2004).

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