Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-11-2013

DeGroot v. Standley Trenching, Inc. Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 39406

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

of the bargain between Standley and Beltman. A seller's commendation of the goods or statements as to value of the goods, as well as statements of puffery, are not express warranties. Jensen v. Siegel Mobile Homes Group, 105 Idaho 189, 668 P.2d 65 (1983); I.C. §28-2-313(2).

DeGroot, standing in Beltman's shoes, can only reference two items in support of the contention that Standley made express warranties about the manure handling equipment and installation. First are statements attributed to a Standley employee made to Earnest DeGroot concerning maintenance of the system, but these statements occurred after the bid contract had been accepted and after the equipment had been installed at the dairy. 61 Second are statements attributed to Kurt Standley made to Charles DeGroot at a trade show in Tulare, California in 1999.⁶² These statements did not become a basis of the bargain because neither were made by Standley to Beltman, were not made at or around the time of contracting, and were made after completion of installation of the equipment. Even if DeGroot had established that the statements were in fact made, there is no evidence that the statements were more than mere puffery.

A buyer carries the burden of proof to establish the existence of facts that give rise to an express warranty; a buyer also must carry the burden of proof that there was a breach of an express warranty. 63 Beltman lacks facts to establish that Standley made express warranties about the manure handling equipment or the installation of the equipment. Through assignment, DeGroot received nothing better factually than what existed when DeGroot directly asserted a breach of express warranties against Standley. Therefore, the granting of summary judgment to

⁶¹ R. Vol. 5, p. 798

⁶² *Id.*, at p. 799; *see also*, R. Vol. 2, p. 213 63 I.C. §28-2-313; *see also* 3 Anderson U.C.C. §2-313:222, §2-313:265 (3rd Ed.)

Standley on Beltman's third party claim for breach of express warranty, assigned to DeGroot, should be upheld.

4. <u>Summary judgment was properly granted to Standley on DeGroot's third party claim for breach of implied warranties.</u>

It is problematic for DeGroot that the district court's ruling on summary judgment on the third party claims was premised on the finding that DeGroot's causes of action (received through assignment from Beltman) were never liquidated. Damages were never liquidated because there was never a finding of fault against Beltman on DeGroot's claims and causes of action. Nor was there any determination of apportionment of fault between Beltman and Standley on Beltman's claims and causes of action. The causes of action were never liquidated because there was never a finding apportioning fault between Beltman and Standley. DeGroot steps in to Beltman's shoes through the assignment obtained from Beltman; however, if liquidated damages provide the soles for those shoes. DeGroot's bare feet are touching the ground.

DeGroot argues that Beltman relied upon Standley's expertise for installation of the manure handling system and that this reliance precludes summary judgment for Standley on the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose. DeGroot does not devote any further authority or argument to the implied warranty of merchantability in the context of Beltman's assignment of that cause of action and DeGroot has therefore waived the implied warranty of merchantability. State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 923 P.2d 966 (1996). DeGroot also overlooks the fact that Charles DeGroot told Beltman to use Standley as the sub-contractor for the manure handling equipment, thus, Beltman did as instructed and did not unilaterally select Standley for

⁶⁴ October 21, 2011 hearing, pp. 97-99; Appellant's Brief, p. 27

⁶⁵ Appellant's Brief, pp. 30-31

the job based upon Standley's experience or expertise. Beltman, as a buyer under the U.C.C., did not rely upon Standley, rather DeGroot told Beltman to use Standley. *Duffin v. Idaho Crop Improvement Association*, 126 Idaho 1002, 1011, 895 P.2d 1195 (1995) (no implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose where there was no evidence that the buyer relied on the seller's judgment to select appropriate goods for a particular purpose).

DeGroot looks to the assigned claims from Beltman in an attempt to boot strap itself into an exception to the vertical privity rule when seeking economic loss on a breach of implied warranty. In *Caterpillar, Inc. v. Usinor Industeel*, 393 F.Supp.2d 659, (N.D. Ill. 2005), a similar argument was made by a buyer and addressed by the federal district court. 66 Caterpillar used steel manufactured by Usinor for heavy duty dump truck bodies, the steel proved to be defective for the specified use, and Caterpillar initiated litigation which, in part, alleged breaches of express and implied warranties regarding the steel. 67 Caterpillar lacked vertical contractual privity with Usinor. 68 Caterpillar argued that an exception to the contractual privity rule existed because it gave Usinor specifications for its truck bodies and because Usinor was aware of Caterpillar's uses and requirements for the steel. 69

In addressing Caterpillar's arguments for exception to the rule of contractual privity the federal district court questioned whether such an exception even continued to exist under Illinois law and when addressing the merits of Caterpillar's argument noted that its Complaint failed to

The Illinois commercial code statute for implied warranties, 810 ILCS 5/2-315, (formerly cited as IL ST CH 26 ¶2-315) reads identically to I.C. §28-2-315.

⁶⁷ *Id.*, at p. 663

⁶⁸ *Id.*, at p. 676

⁶⁹ *Id*.

state that Usinor custom made the steel specifically for Caterpillar. The court made this distinction because the line of authority relied upon by Caterpillar for exception to contractual privity contains a, "... common thread ... that the buyer told the manufacturer of its needs *before* the product was built." The court noted, "here it was the other way around: Caterpillar told Usinor what it needed *after* Usinor told Caterpillar about the properties of the ... steel in the 1998 and 2000 sales presentations." The court further noted that, "Caterpillar does not allege that after it gave Usinor the specifications, Usinor specifically designed the (steel) that it sold to CMSA and Westech for use in the truck bodies. ... Usinor appears to have provided a mere component to CMSA and Westech: it was CMSA and Westech who designed a finished product for Caterpillar, not Usinor."

Applying the Caterpillar facts to Beltman's claims assigned to DeGroot, Beltman did not allege that Houle custom made the manure handling equipment for the DeGroot dairy project or even that Standley informed Houle of special custom requirements for the equipment to be installed at the DeGroot dairy. Nor does Beltman allege that it gave Standley specifications and that Standley specifically designed the manure handling system. Charles DeGroot testified that Beltman did not even provide the plans for the dairy because DeGroot had earlier obtained the plans from Vance Construction, the design-build contractor who did not get the job. Standley, analogous to Usinor in the *Caterpillar* case, provided a mere component to Beltman in the form

_

⁷⁰ Id.

⁷¹ *Id.*

⁷² Id

^{73 77}

⁷⁴ R. Vol. 1, p. 101; R. Vol. 2, p. 209

of the equipment manufactured by Houle and the installation of that equipment at the DeGroot dairy.

Beltman's claim for breach of implied warranty, assigned to DeGroot, fails because (1) Beltman's damages were never liquidated, thus through the assignment DeGroot did not receive anything upon which to recover damages against Standley, and (2) Beltman has not come forward with any evidence more than a mere scintilla upon which to support its claim that it relied upon Standley's experience and expertise for the purchase and installation of the manure handling equipment at the DeGroot dairy. Therefore, the granting of summary judgment to Standley on Beltman's third party claim for breach of the implied covenant of fitness for a particular purpose, assigned to DeGroot, should be upheld.

5. <u>Summary judgment was properly granted to Standley on DeGroot's</u> third party claim for rescission of contract.

DeGroot's attempt to bring a direct claim against Standley for rescission failed due to lack of contractual privity. DeGroot then took an assignment from Beltman on Beltman's third party claim stated against Standley for rescission. Although DeGroot argues the law of rescission when addressing DeGroot's failed attempt to make a direct claim against Standley, in the assignment of the third party claim, DeGroot's argument focuses upon laches and does not attempt to apply the fact to the law regarding rescission.

Pursuant to I.C. §28-2-603 a buyer may revoke acceptance of goods if the non-conformity of the goods substantially impairs their value, and if the buyer has accepted the goods on the reasonable assumption that the non-conformity would be cured and it has not seasonably

been cured. 75 Acceptance can only be revoked within a reasonable time after the buyer discovers or should have discovered the ground for the revocation. A buyer rejects non-conforming goods by taking affirmative action to avoid acceptance and by notifying the seller of the rejection within a reasonable time.⁷⁷

Through Standley's bid contract to Beltman, the parties contracted for the purchase/sale and installation of the manure handling equipment at the DeGroot dairy therefore meeting the definitional requirements under the U.C.C. for "buyer" and "seller." In the context of Beltman's third party claim for rescission against Standley, the district court held that the claim of rescission was not brought in a timely manner. The claim of rescission that is relevant is not DeGroot's notice to Standley in June, 2001, as the letter conveying that notice was for DeGroot's direct claim for rescission against Standley. 78 The basis for the district court's holding focuses upon notice, if any, given by Beltman to Standley for rescission of Standley's bid contract. DeGroot argues that "Beltman asserted its claim for rescission against Standley," but fails to cite to anything in the record substantiating this proposition.⁷⁹ It is dispositive that Beltman's Third Party Complaint was filed nearly five years after completion of the DeGroot dairy and Beltman made no attempt, in writing or otherwise, to notify Standley of a rescission of Standley's bid contract prior to filing its Third Party Complaint.

Lacking is any evidence of Beltman taking affirmative action to avoid acceptance, and by notifying the seller of the rejection within a reasonable time, as required by I.C. §28-2-618. This

I.C. §28-2-603(1)(a); Beal v. Griffin, 123 Idaho 445, 449, 849 P.2d 118 (Ct. App. 1993).
 I.C. §28-2-608(2)

⁷⁸ R. Vol. 2, pp. 343-349

⁷⁹ Appellant's Brief, p. 31

is the basis for the district court's holding that the claim for rescission was not brought within a reasonable time. 80 Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the laches argument initially advanced by Standley is not the same argument used later when Standley again sought summary judgment on Beltman's rescission claim assigned to DeGroot. Therefore, the granting of summary judgment to Standley on Beltman's third party claim for rescission of contract, assigned to DeGroot, should be upheld.

6. Summary judgment was properly granted to Standley on DeGroot's third party claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Beltman's third party action against Standley included a claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The claim was assigned by Beltman to DeGroot, but the analysis requires application of facts to law concerning the dealings between Beltman and Standley in order to determine whether DeGroot obtained any viable claim through assignment. As Standley argued before the district court, a violation of the covenant occurs only when a party violates, nullifies, or significantly impairs any benefit of the contract. Idaho First Nat'l. Bank v. Bliss Valley Food, Inc., 121 Idaho 266, 288, 824 P.2d 841 (1991). Beltman has presented no evidence on Standley's conduct which allegedly violated, nullified, or significantly impaired any benefit Beltman was to receive as a result of Standley's bid contract. The undisputed facts show that Beltman was paid in full on its contract with DeGroot and that no benefit of the Beltman/Standley contract was nullified or significantly impaired. In fact, Beltman was not required to return any money to DeGroot and DeGroot never requested that Beltman return any

81 R. Vol. 5, p. 779

Appellant's Brief, p. 31; September 7, 2011 Motion for Summary Judgment, pp. 70-71

monetary amount. 82 Nor did DeGroot retain any money from Beltman as a result of Standley's work installing the manure handling equipment. 83

The stipulated judgment Beltman entered into with DeGroot resolving the litigation DeGroot brought against Beltman also fails to yield a basis upon which Beltman can claim that its contract with Standley was violated, nullified or significantly impaired due to the lack of any monetary amount being paid by Beltman to DeGroot. Beltman has testified that it is not out any money as a result of Standley's conduct, or as a result of the functioning of the manure handling equipment. Beltman has failed to rebut Standley's motion for summary judgment due to the lack of evidence of violation, nullification or significant impairment of Beltman's expectations under the Standley bid contract. Further, on appeal, DeGroot has waived this issue by failing to provide authority or argument specifically supporting the validity of Beltman's third party claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing which it took by way of assignment. State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 923 P.2d 966 (1996).

Therefore, the granting of summary judgment to Standley on Beltman's third party claim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, assigned to DeGroot, should be upheld.

7. Summary judgment was properly granted to Standley on DeGroot's third party claim for indemnification.

On September 7, 2011, the district court heard oral argument on Standley's motion for partial summary judgment and motion in limine.⁸⁵ Standley's partial summary judgment addressed the DeGroot third party claims obtained from Beltman through assignment for breach

83 *Id.*, at p.795

⁸² *Id.*, at p.792

⁸⁴ *Id.*, at p. 796

September 7, 2011 hearing, pp. 1-80

of express warranty, breach of implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and a claim for rescission. Beltman never stated a claim for indemnity against Standley. Standley's motion *in limine* was filed as a formality to confirm the district court's prior rulings that DeGroot could not maintain direct causes of action against Standley, thereby seeking to prohibit the introduction of any evidence irrelevant to the then remaining claims DeGroot obtained from Beltman through assignment. During oral argument on the motion *in limine*, the issue arose as to whether Beltman's claims against Standley constituted a claim for indemnity arising from Beltman's relationship with DeGroot and the parties requested additional briefing on the indemnity issue. Beltman's

The remedy of indemnity can arise expressly by contract, be implied from contract, or arise through the common law. Here, Standley's bid contract to Beltman does not contain an express written provision for contractual indemnity. Nor can contractual indemnity be implied from Standley's bid contract to Beltman. If a claim for indemnity was possessed by Beltman, it must arise from the common law as an equitable remedy.

Indemnity between tortfeasors has been defined as:

(1) If two persons are liable in tort to a third for the same harm and one of them discharges the liability of both, he is entitled to indemnity from the other for if the other would be unjustly enriched at his expense by the discharge of the liability

Restatement (Second) Torts §886B, Indemnity Between Tortfeasors, 1979, emphasis added.

Restitution is the basis for equitable indemnity. *Id.*, at Comment C; see also, Chenery v. Agri-Lines Corp., 115 Idaho 281, 766 P.2d 751 (1988). The distinction between contribution

87 *Id.*, at pp. 862-965

-

⁸⁶ R. Vol. 5, p. 770

⁸⁸ *Id.*, at p. 891

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